1970

Opal C. Wells, And Opal C. Wells, As Guardian For The Estates Of Patricia Ann Hill, Ramona Hill, John Roland Hill, Mary Kate Hill, And Joseph William Hill, Minors v. William Marcus And Audrey Y. Marcus : Brief of Appellants

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an action quieting title to land and water rights of the parties and determining right of easement across said property for recovery of water.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Judgment was entered quieting title to land in plaintiffs and awarding two-thirds of the water of Corbert Creek to plaintiffs. Defendants were restrained from entering upon or constructing, maintaining or reconstructing a pipeline across plaintiffs' land for the purpose of conveying water from Corbert Creek.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-Appellants seek reversal of judgment as it pertains to a restraining order prohibiting said defendants from exercising a right of easement across the land of plaintiffs-respondents to remove one-third of the water of Corbert Creek, or, that failing, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs-respondents are owners of property in Davis County with water rights flowing from Corbert Hollow, having acquired title from George A. Hill. Defendants-appellants are the owners of property in Davis County also with water rights flowing from Corbert Hollow, deriving title from Margaret Schmaltz in 1946. At or about 1950 appellants constructed, with the help of John Hill, deceased husband of plaintiff-respondent, a pipeline conveying water from Corbert Hollow Springs to each of their respective properties. Appellants furnished heavy equipment and labor and Mr. Hill provided necessary material. This line was used for approximately ten years by the parties until the death of Mr. Hill in 1961. The area covered by the pipelines in dispute traverses the property of plaintiffs-respondents. Both parties herein have at different times benefitted from the pipeline and claim opposing interest in its ownership.

In September 1966, plaintiffs-respondents filed suit to quiet title to said property and water rights in dispute. Trial was held August 1, 1968. Decree of judgment was entered March 7, 1969. The trial court entered judg-

ment quieting title in the real property to plaintiffs and granted two-thirds flow of Corbert Hollow Springs to them. Defendants were restrained from going to plaintiffs' property to maintain, construct or reconstruct the pipeline conveying their water rights from Corbert Hollow Springs.

Appellants made and oral motion for modification of a proposed decree and, in the alternative, a new trial. The motion was denied.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANTS' RIGHT TO QUIET TITLE IN ONE-THIRD FLOW OF CORBERT HOLLOW SPRINGS.

The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Utah, Weber County, entered its judgment in Case No. 7487, *Plain City Irrigation vs. Hooper Irrigation Co.* In that case at page 17, Right No. 30 reflects title to the water diverted from Corbert Hollow and Springs to be vested in George A. Hill and Margaret Schmaltz, dating to 1865. Mr. William Marcus, defendant-appellant, acquired title to the Schmaltz property in approximately 1947. (Trial transcript, Page 36, Line 1.) At this time he acquired not only interest in the Schmaltz real property but also the water rights. The deed was recorded at Book 2B, Deeds, Page 9, dated September 26, 1946, Davis County Recorder's Office.

The trial court in the instant case found that plain-

tiffs were entitled to two-third flow of Corbert Creek Springs but entered no finding regarding one-third interest in defendant William Marcus. Mrs. Opal Wells testified at the trial that one-third flow of Corbert Creek belonged to defendant. (Trial transcript, Page 15, Line 15.)

The knowledge of one-third water right being vested in defendant was known to those familiar with the surroundings as evidenced by the testimony of Carl D. Hill given at trial. (Trial transcript, Page 20, Lines 23-25). To fail to enter its order respecting defendants' rights to their share of water leaves open this issue and subjects defendants to future expense and litigation.

POINT II

APPELLANTS' RIGHT TO EASEMENT.

The general rule is that an easement in land can only be created by parol. Despite the general rule, however, it has been recognized that easements may exist and have been enforced by virtue of an estoppel, agreement, or covenant. *Rose v. Peters*, 59 Cal. App.2d 833, 139 P.2d 983, (1943); *Paden City v. Felton*, 136 W. Va. 127, 66 S.E.2d 280, (1951); *I Minor on Real Property, Second Edition, Sec. 104*. The rule set forth in *I Thompson, Real Property, Sec. 356* (Prem. Ed. 1939), states:

Under the equitable doctrine of part performance, a verbal agreement for an easement has been enforced by some courts. This doctrine applies to all cases in which a court of equity

would entertain a suit for specific performance if the alleged contract had been in writing. The doctrine also applies to a parol agreement for an easement although no interest in the land is intended to be acquired. . . . If expenditures be made in permanent improvements inuring to the benefit of a licensor under an express oral license given by him, then such license becomes irrevocable, and, if it relates to the use or occupation of real estate, it becomes an easement.

In the instant case, the record indicates (Trial transcript, Page 20, Line 21), Carl D. Hill testifying, that John Hill had granted to William Marcus one-third interest in the water coming from Corbert Creek Canyon and that Carl D. Hill, cousin of John Hill, had been present at the time William Marcus and John Hill had installed the pipeline transporting said water. William Marcus stated that the pipeline in question was installed to convey Corbert Creek water from the canyon to Mr. Marcus' home in order to avoid the need for pumping the water. (Trial transcript, Page 38, Line 12). Mr. Marcus further testified that the agreement between John Hill and William Marcus was for Mr. Hill to furnish material and Mr. Marcus was to provide the equipment and labor necessary. (Trial transcript, Page 38, Line 22.)

It is the position of Mr. Marcus that oral statements between Mr. Hill and himself established a verbal agreement, either partially or wholly performed by which both parties benefitted; that such performance amounts to an executed oral contract removing this issue from the Statute of Frauds and creating an enforceable, valid

easement for the existing pipeline and its future maintenance.

For the Second Judicial Court of Davis County to deny Mr. Marcus the continued use of this easement onto the Hill property in effect excludes Mr. Marcus from all rights to the water in Corbert Creek Canyon. There is no other feasible way for the water to be removed to the Marcus property without access across Hills' real estate. Even if such alternative route did exist, the labor, costs and improvements have already been mutually expended and benefits conferred in reliance upon the early agreement. The nature of the pipeline construction, being part cement and part buried beneath the ground, indicates the intent of the parties at the time of construction to create a permanent line. This fact is further evidenced by both parties mutually using the pipeline for their individual and joint benefit for a period of nearly ten years with no known dispute arising until after the death of John Hill in 1961. It is of further significance that Mr. Marcus built his home using the pipeline in dispute to transport to his residence culinary water for him and his family. (Trial transcript, Page 37, Line 38.) All of these factors indicate the intent of the parties to create an easement in the property for the continued beneficial use of the water.

The Supreme Court of Colorado has recognized that "Implied Easements" should be enforced and that said easements arise out of existence of certain facts implied from the conduct of the parties. *Wagner v. Fairlamb*, 379 P.2d 165, 151 Colo. 481, Cert. Denied, 375 U.S. 879,

(1963). See also in this regard *I Thompson, Real Property, Sec. 390* (Prem. Ed. 1939).

A case similar in many respects to the case at hand, which states the rule in California, is the case of *Cooke v. Ramponi*, 38 C.2d 282, 239 P.2d 638, (1952), as follows:

Where plaintiff and purchaser of adjoining property orally agreed to jointly use and maintain a road across purchaser's property giving the only access to plaintiff's land and both paid a respective share of one year's repair work, and plaintiff orally agreed with defendant who thereafter purchased the adjoining property for mutual use of a road and for maintenance by plaintiff only, and plaintiff incurred substantial expenditures for necessary maintenance in the succeeding year, and defendant accepted benefits of such work and used the road, plaintiff had an executed, irrevocable parol license to use the road and owned an easement therein.

The court goes on to explain that the reason for such an equitable estoppel is to prevent a fraud from being perpetrated upon the party who relies upon verbal statements and then expends money or labor upon such reliance.

The case before this court faces the same injustices to defendants.

A cardinal rule of the State of Utah regarding use of water has been conservation. This court has previously said that it is contrary to the policy of Utah to

permit waste of water. *United States v. District Court*, 121 U. 1, 11-12, 238 P.2d 1132 (1951).

This doctrine was affirmed by this court in 1969. *Salt Lake County v. Kazura*, 22 U.2d 313, 452 P.2d 869. *Water Co. v. Kimball*, 76 U. 243, 289 Pac. 116 (1930); *Big Cottonwood Tanner Ditch Co. v. Moyle*, 109 U. 197, 159 P.2d 596 (1945); *Wrathall v. Johnson*, 86 U. 50, 40 P.2d 755 (1935).

Speaking further on this subject, the court recognized that the conservation of water is of utmost importance to the public welfare of the State and the waste of that water is injurious to the welfare of our State and should be avoided. *Brian v. Fremont Irrigation Co.*, 112 U. 220, 186 P.2d 588 (1947).

As stated earlier, for a water right to exist without a right of access to recover said water creates waste.

Respectfully submitted,

STANLEY M. SMEDLEY
BEAN, BEAN & SMEDLEY
190 So. Fort Lane
Layton, Utah 84041
Attorney for Appellant