1970

Opal C. Wells, And Opal C. Wells, As Guardian For The Estates Of Patricia Ann Hill, Ramona Hill, John Roland Hill, Mary Kate Hill, And Joseph William Hill, Minors v. William Marcus And Audrey Y. Marcus : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent does not agree with the appellants' statement of the facts. The source of water involved in this case is Corbett Creek not "Corbert Hollow and Springs."

From the year 1921 to 1950 there was no pipeline diverting water from Corbett Creek except a four-inch pipeline to the Hill residence (now Wells residence) (Tr. 9.) The pipeline referred to by the appellants in their statement of facts, (app. br. p. 2) was actually constructed in 1950 by John Hill, the deceased first husband of the respondent, as a soil conservation project. See Exhibits I, J and K. He employed the appellant William Marcus, sometimes referred to as Bus Marcus, (hereinafter referred to as "Marcus") to work on the line. (Tr. 15) John Hill died in 1961 and soon thereafter Marcus "disrupted" the 1950 pipeline with his back hoe and installed a plastic pipeline from the channel of Corbett Creek to his home (Tr. 15, 16) and he claimed and took all the water from Corbett Creek (Tr. 16, 32). The Plaintiff did not give Marcus permission to enter upon her property (Tr. 16). Marcus claimed that wherever the water ran he owned the ground (Tr. 17, 31, 32). He practically kicked the plaintiff off her own land (Tr. 17). The plaintiff did not orally or in writing grant an easement to Marcus (Tr. 18). This was admitted by Marcus (Tr. 45). There was no agreement or understanding for the creation of an easement.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The findings that the defendants have no easement or other interest in the plaintiff's land is supported by the evidence.
2. The decree does not cut off the defendants' access to Corbett Creek.

ARGUMENT

1. THE FINDINGS THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAD NO EASEMENT OR OTHER INTEREST IN THE PLAINTIFF'S LAND IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The trial court properly found that the defendants had no easement or other interest in the plaintiff's land described in the complaint. The defendants contend that an easement was created in this case by a ". . . verbal agreement, either partially or wholly performed by which both parties benefitted; . . . removing this issue from the Statute of Frauds and creating an enforceable, valid easement . . ." (App. br. 5, 6).

Under the Utah statute of frauds, section 25-5-1, U.C.A. 1953, an easement, being an interest in real estate, cannot be created, granted or assigned otherwise than by operation of law or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating, granting or assigning the same.

The rule is that an easement may be created or passed only by deed or by prescription which presupposes a grant. This is subject to exceptions, as under some circumstances an easement may be created by estoppel, by agreement, express or implied, and by part performance of a parol agreement. 28 C.J.S. p. 640.

"An easement is an interest in land within the meaning of the statute of frauds." 37 C.J.S. p. 578.

“Unless the evidence is clearly to the contrary, the Court will presume that a parol agreement to impress real property with a servitude was made with knowledge of the statute of frauds, and intended as a license only, and not as an easement.” 37 C.J.S. p. 579. *Howes v. Harmon*, 11 Idaho 64, 81 P. 48, *Tiffany Real Property* 3rd Ed. Sec. 776, p. 241.

The principle of executed oral agreement relied upon by the appellants to avoid the statute of frauds has these important elements: (1) an oral agreement to create an easement and (2) part or full performance of the oral agreement such that a court of equity would entertain a suit for specific performance if the contract had been in writing.¹ *Thompson on Real Property*, Perm. Ed. sec. 357 at page 575. It should be noted that the quotation from *Thompson* on pages 5 and 6 of appellants' brief omits the following:

“It is to be observed, however, that eminent judges have regretted the introduction of this equitable doctrine, and have declared that it should not be carried further than it has been carried by well-recognized authorities.”

Equitable estoppel also relied upon by the defendants:

“. . . imports overt acts and declarations of the party charged, designed to induce another to alter his position, coupled with the requirements that the other party must have acted upon the same to his injury. The effect of an equitable estoppel is to transfer property rights from one party to the other, so it must be established by clear and com-

petent evidence.” *Holbrook Irr. District v. Arkansas Rand Company*, 42 F2d 541, at p. 548.

The record does not support the acquisition by Marcus of an easement for his plastic pipeline under any theory, but on the contrary the testimony of the defendant Marcus affirmatively shows that no easement or other interest was acquired. We quote from the transcript:

“Q. Now, when you went up, in the `sixties, and did work with a backhoe, and dug a trench and put your line three feet down, did you get permission from Mrs. Wells to go up there?

“A. Well, I had a mutual understanding.

“Q. Just a minute. Just answer the question regarding Mrs. Wells. Did Mrs. Wells give you permission?

“A. Mrs. Wells wouldn’t give me permission to go on my own, to fix my own pipeline.

“Q. Well, in other words, you claim that you own the property that’s covered by your, that’s passed over by your pipeline?

“A. I have a right-of-way for my water to come through.

“Q. Well—

“A. For my pipeline that was put in.

“Q. Do you have any written instrument showing any right-of-way?

“A. No, I haven’t. I have a written instrument for from the highway up, for a thousand foot of it.

“Q. But you don’t have any instrument that affects the Wells property, do you?

“A. Not, not—not the Wells property.” (Tr. 43).

There is no evidence of an oral agreement between the plaintiff and defendants for the grant of an easement and no evidence of the elements of estoppel. (Tr. 16).

The plaintiff’s first husband, John Hill, who died in 1961, (Tr. 15, 16) employed Marcus in 1950 to construct a pipeline to his pond and from the canyon down to the plaintiff’s home (Tr. 15). This pipeline was crushed and became unusable a few years later (Tr. 38-40). At the time the pipeline was constructed by John Hill, Marcus constructed his own pipeline from a common diversion point to his home west of the highway. (Tr. 38.) After Mr. Hill died, Marcus constructed the present plastic pipeline across the plaintiff’s land and in so doing completed the destruction of the existing concrete ditch and pipeline that had served the plaintiff’s property (Tr. 16). He entered the plaintiff’s property without the owner’s permission (Tr. 16). This was admitted by Marcus (Tr. 45).

There is absolutely no evidence of any agreement, verbal or written, to grant an easement. The case of *Ros v. Peters*, 59 Cal App. 2d 833 139 P2d 983, cited by the appellant on the oral agreement theory is not in point because in that case there was actually an oral agreement

proved by competent evidence. Here, the only evidence is that a pipeline was constructed in 1950, part of which was beneficial to both parties, but the record is absolutely silent as to any agreement relating to the pipeline. The plastic pipeline constructed in 1961 or 1962 was admittedly constructed without permission of the landowner. It was a trespass.

The cases cited by the appellant on the theory of "implied easements" are not in point. In *Wagner v. Fairlamb*, 151 Colo. 481, 379 P2d 165 the court points out that before a way of necessity exists there are three requirements, (1) ownership of entire tract by single grantor prior to diversion, (2) necessity existing at time of severance, and (3) great necessity for the particular right of way. None of the requirements are met in this case. Here there was no ownership of an entire tract and, of course, no severance.

2. THE DECREE DOES NOT CUT OFF THE DEFENDANTS' ACCESS TO CORBETT CREEK.

It is argued by the appellants (app. br. 6) that the denial to Marcus of the continued use of the pipeline easement ". . . in effect excludes Mr. Marcus from all rights to water in *Corbett Creek Canyon*. There is no other feasible way for the water to be removed to the Marcus property without access across Hills' real estate." This argument is not supported by any reference to the transcript or exhibits. The contrary is stated in the testimony of Marcus.

On page 37 of the Transcript Marcus testified:

“Q. And where did you get your culinary water for those homes?

“A. Well, it was spring water out of Corbett Creek Canyon.

“Q. I see. And where did you get—where did you actually take this from?

“A. We took it below the, west of the highway, where it seeped down through the rocks. If we went up and in the summer and cleaned out the canyon, by hand, why, it would seep all the way down through. Then we took and pumped it up to the houses.”

The map Exhibit L shows the natural channel of Corbett Creek crossing the north boundary of the Hill property. Marcus testified that he had an easement from the highway up “. . . for a thousand foot of it.” He has access to the channel after it crosses the north boundary of the Wells property.

The argument of lack of access to the creek is therefore without merit.

CONCLUSION

The finding of the trial court that the defendants have no easement or other interest in the plaintiff's land is supported by competent evidence and should not be

disturbed. The evidence shows that the denial of the easement does not cut off the defendants' access to Corbett Creek. The decree of the district court should be affirmed.